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Vancouver, B.C. 

2 May 8, 1990 
3 
4 THE REGISTRAR: Order in court. In the Supreme Court of British 
5 Columbia, this 8th day of May, 1990, Delgamuukw versus 
6 Her Majesty the Queen at bar, my lord. 
7 THE COURT: Thank you. I thought we would sit from 9:00 to 
8 10:00, from 10:15 to 11:15, and from 11:30 to 12:30, 
9 if that's convenient. Mr. Jackson. 

10 MR. JACKSON: Yes, my lord. I had started an analysis of the 
11 various ways in which the competing systems of 
12 authority or jurisdiction operated, so to speak, on 
13 the ground in the course of the last century, and I 
14 was at page 75 of the argument under the general 
15 heading of education and social services. My lord, 
16 evidence of the education of Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en 
17 children by non-Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en educational 
18 authorities has shown how in the past these 
19 authorities have been used to repress important 
20 elements of the Gitksan-Wet'suwet'en organized 
21 society. 
22 THE COURT: Well, how can I deal with that, Mr. Jackson? What 
23 evidence is there of that? 
2 4 MR. JACKSON: My lord — 
25 THE COURT: A few people mentioned that in their particular case 
26 that was so. 
27 MR. JACKSON: Well, my lord, what I submit is that those 
28 individual cases are, in fact, part and parcel of a 
29 clearly established pattern of various educational 
30 authorities seeking to change Indian values and 
31 particularly Indian language. We're not asking your 
32 lordship to make a ruling on that fact, nor are we 
33 asking your lordship to cast blame or responsibility 
34 one way or the other. The point of raising it is only 
35 in the context to show how, in fact, the Gitksan and 
36 Wet'suwet'en hereditary chiefs have sought to 
37 accommodate and to incorporate their own educational 
38 values and authority into that of other educational 
39 authorities, and that is the purpose of this material, 
40 my lord. It's not to ask your lordship to render 
41 judgment one way or the other on the rights or wrongs 
42 of what went on, but to point out that regardless of 
43 what other authorities did the Gitksan and 
44 Wet'suwet'en have sought to maintain and establish 
45 their own core institutions in this area as in others. 
4 6 THE COURT: But there's a whole body of young people who aren't 
47 represented here, and I'd be making a declaration of 
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Submission by Mr. Jackson 1 some sort that would 
affect them, if not bind them, in 

2 their absence. 
3 MR. JACKSON: My lord — 
4 THE COURT: I don't see how I can do that. You see, I'm having 
5 a terrible time bringing this part of your submission 
6 into the area of justiciable issues. 
7 MR. JACKSON: Well, let me see if I can explain, my lord, what 
8 it is we are not asking you to do and what it is we 
9 are asking you to have regard to in this body of the 

10 evidence. Yesterday your lordship raised the question 
11 would the declaration which the plaintiffs are seeking 
12 in relation to a right to self-government, to govern 
13 themselves, your lordship raised the question, well, 
14 does that mean that the Education Act of British 
15 Columbia somehow doesn't apply to them. 
16 THE COURT: Yes. 
17 MR. JACKSON: This evidence, my lord, I'm about to bring to your 
18 lordship's attention is designed to show how, in fact, 
19 hereditary chiefs have sought to work both within 
20 their own system and within the educational systems of 
21 both the province and the federal government. 
22 THE COURT: But so has the Catholic Church, so has the Anglican 
23 Church, so have the Jehovah Witnesses, so has the 
24 Chinese community, so has all sorts of communities. 
25 How is that to be expressed in a judgment of the 
26 court? 
27 MR. JACKSON: We say, my lord, that the evidence of what the 
28 hereditary chiefs have done is not the same kind of 
29 evidence as to what other voluntary associations, be 
30 they church or be they school boards, parents' 
31 associations, that the efforts of the hereditary 
32 chiefs bespeak a long-held and transmitted 
33 responsibility to have regard to the interests of 
34 young people as the repository both of information, 
35 heritage, and the hopes for the future. In that sense 
36 it is distinctive, my lord. Aboriginal peoples, as 
37 some of my colleagues have made before, are not the 
38 same as other voluntary associations. Other voluntary 
39 associations do not look to common law aboriginal 
40 rights or any other kind of rights based upon pre-
41 existing matters prior to the assertion of sovereignty 
42 to justify and found their rights to govern 
43 themselves. 
44 THE COURT: Well, I think that what I have to say, Mr. Jackson, 
45 is that until I see what it is that you want me to 
46 declare and the language of the order that would be 
47 entered consequent upon such a declaration, I am 
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your argument or to see how it 

2 can properly be a submission that falls within the 
3 area of justiciability even in a case as broad as this 
4 one. I am just unable to comprehend the legal 
5 consequences of what you're submitting. 
6 MR. JACKSON: Well, my lord, let me try and put it this way. In 
7 terms of this particular evidence in relation to what, 
8 for example, Joan Ryan, Chief Hanamuxw, has done in 
9 pursuit of her understanding of her responsibilities 

10 as a hereditary chief, that is intended and is led as 
11 evidence, and our submission is based upon that, are 
12 intended to show that the hereditary chiefs have a 
13 responsibility and an authority in the area of 
14 training and education. The way in which that has 
15 been exercised in the past has been in terms of 
16 training in the areas of the oral histories, training 
17 in the areas of particular patterns of knowledge and 
18 understanding which relate Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en 
19 people to the natural world to each other within a 
20 kinship society. What we are saying is that those 
21 responsibilities in a contemporary world extend also 
22 to working out with other authorities, be they federal 
23 or provincial, an accommodation so that the 
24 traditional training of Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en 
25 people is made relevant and contemporary in the 
26 context of a modern world. 
27 THE COURT: Well, are you asking for an order, a mandatory order 
28 that the chiefs discharge that responsibility? 
29 MR. JACKSON: No, my lord. What we are seeking is a declaration 
30 which recognizes the rights of the chiefs to govern 
31 themselves and their members of their houses in the 
32 context of the way they have done to date in the 
33 framework of non-coercive society. We are not seeking 
34 a declaration which says that the Gitksan and 
35 Wet'suwet'en have the exclusive responsibility in 
36 relation to all matters pertaining to education and 
37 that the province has no responsibilities in relation 
38 to that. This evidence is designed to show how there 
39 are — 
40 THE COURT: But you said that they're entitled to govern 
41 themselves and their members. 
42 MR. JACKSON: Yes, my lord. 
43 THE COURT: How can I make such an order in view of the 
44 difficulty that -- the procedural difficulties about 
45 persons under disability and the lack of what I would 
46 say is a clear notice to all Gitksan members that this 
47 is being sought? I don't think -- I don't think that 
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pleaded to give rise to a 

2 declaration. There may be, as I've said before, 
3 Gitksans who -- Gitksan persons and Wet'suwet'en 
4 persons who say, "I don't want any part of what you're 
5 talking about." I don't know whether there are or 
6 not. 
7 MR. JACKSON: Well, that is a point, my lord, we are going to 
8 come back to, as I indicated last night, in response 
9 to those other questions your lordship raised. 

10 THE COURT: You see, I have evidence of a chief who said, "I'm 
11 not going to discharge my chiefly duties." He was 
12 replaced. I think there's an example of one of that 
13 kind. I forget who he was. But I am just unable -- I 
14 am unable to come to grips with your proposition, and 
15 I'd be less than fair if I didn't tell you so. But 
16 you're entitled to go ahead --
17 MR. JACKSON: Well, my lord — 
18 THE COURT: — and persuade me. 
19 MR. JACKSON: I'm reluctant, obviously, to proceed in the 
20 absence of some clear consensus as between us as to 
21 the purpose of the evidence, and as I say, it is to --
22 as is much of the evidence in this part of the 
23 argument, which I started last night, it is not 
24 intended to document any exclusivity of jurisdiction 
25 in particular areas. 
26 THE COURT: But, you see, that's the problem I have. If it's 
27 not exclusive, then it seems to me anybody can do it, 
28 and you don't need a declaration. Unless I make it 
29 exclusive or unless I make it mandatory, well then, it 
30 must be voluntary. 
31 MR. JACKSON: But, my lord, the purpose of the declarations we 
32 are seeking in this case are not declarations 
33 primarily directed to other Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en. 
34 Other Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en are not defendants in 
35 this case. This case seeks declarations vis-a-vis 
36 these defendants, and in that sense declarations of a 
37 right to self-government have, we submit, direct 
38 effect in terms of the conduct of the defendants in 
39 how they deal with the plaintiffs either in the 
40 context of negotiations or in any other context. And 
41 the declarations of this court do not and will not 
42 have a preclusive effect on the conduct of individual 
43 Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en. 
44 THE COURT: Well then, you are seeking an order that would 
45 enjoin the defendants from interfering with the 
46 authority of the chiefs to regulate the social 
47 organization of the Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en people? 
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would be inconsistent with that 

2 social organization. And there are many areas, my 
3 lord. Yesterday you gave the example of traffic 
4 regulations. There's nothing inconsistent with the 
5 traffic laws which the provincial defendants have put 
6 in place, nor with regulations which the federal 
7 government have put in place in relation to airports, 
8 for example, which somehow impede in any fundamental 
9 or integral way the operations of the organized 

10 society of the plaintiffs. 
11 If I can go back to the education example, my 
12 lord, the examples in the evidence of in the past how, 
13 in fact, educational authorities, for example, have 
14 sought to repress the speaking of native languages in 
15 school, if that were to continue today, my lord, if 
16 the province, for example, sought to do that, and, of 
17 course, I'm not in any way suggesting the province 
18 does seek to do that --
19 MR. GOLDIE: I'm glad my friend acknowledges that, my lord, 
20 because there is no evidence that in the educational 
21 system any of these things which my friend is talking 
22 about exist today. In fact, there is evidence that 
23 the first integrated high school in British Columbia 
24 is at Hazelton. There is evidence that there is a 
25 development of the Gitksan alphabet in a primary 
26 school. The ills, if one wants to speak of it that 
27 way, and I don't choose that word, of yesterday have 
28 no application when it comes to a declaration that has 
29 a mandatory effect. 
30 MR. JACKSON: My lord, I was -- my caveat there, not suggesting 
31 that the province has done that or does that today, 
32 was by way of illustration that if, as in the past, 
33 that were to happen, if a provincial educational 
34 authority were sought to be imposed upon the Gitksan-
35 Wet'suwet'en which was aimed at supressing their 
36 language, then we would say that at that point the 
37 province was, in fact, intruding in a very fundamental 
38 way upon something integral to the organized society 
39 of the Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en. 
40 THE COURT: Aren't you, in effect, seeking to put an order of 
41 this court above the Charter? Because if something 
42 like that was done, if the School Act was amended to 
43 say no Gitksan would be spoken in schools of British 
44 Columbia, I would think there would be an immediate 
45 Charter challenge, and they would first determine has 
46 there been a right violated, and if there has, it 
47 would then require whether it's a reasonable 
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right, and a declaration would be 

2 made accordingly. But if I make the declaration 
3 you're seeking, it seems to me that at least the 
4 second branch of the Charter investigation would be 
5 foreclosed, perhaps even the first one. 
6 MR. JACKSON: Well, my lord, Section 35 is placed outside of the 
7 Charter. It was done so presumably for very good 
8 reasons in that aboriginal rights, while they have a 
9 common law base, have, in fact, a basis in terms of 

10 pre-existing rights. The framers of the Constitution 
11 Act presumably had good reason to locate Section 35 
12 rights as something other than rights of freedom of 
13 religion or freedom of association. And, of course, 
14 the scope of Section 35 rights and the extent to which 
15 they are subject to modification by federal/provincial 
16 governments is the subject matter in particular case 
17 law which Ms. Mandell will be addressing you on. 
18 But again, my lord, the purpose of this evidence 
19 is not to seek a declaration that the plaintiffs have 
20 an exclusive right to set up their own schools to the 
21 exclusion of the province. This evidence is being 
22 brought to your lordship's attention to rebut the idea 
23 that somehow the Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en social 
24 system, the institutions of the Gitksan and 
25 Wet'suwet'en have been overtaken, overshadowed to the 
26 point of legal eclipse by provincial agencies. And to 
27 that extent what I have sought to do, my lord, and if 
28 I could take you to the evidence of Chief Hanamuxw at 
29 page 82, I have tried to -- Chief Hanamuxw herself 
30 related her experience as a teacher, not to the 
31 development of an exclusive Indian education system. 
32 THE COURT: But, Mr. Jackson, what troubles me so much is that 
33 there's nothing to stop them from doing that. I 
34 didn't mention a moment ago the Jewish community 
35 operate their own schools, several of them, in 
36 different branches of -- different degrees of 
37 orthodoxy in that faith. The East Indian communities 
38 have their own schools. The Japanese have their own 
39 schools. As I said before, the Catholics, the 
40 Italians, the Jehovah Witnesses. They all have the 
41 rights which I think you are contending. No one 
42 interferes with them, and if they did, I should think 
43 the interference would easily be stopped. I think 
44 that in order to give effect to your submission I 
45 would have to have very great specificity as to what 
46 provincial statutes you wish me to declare 
47 non-operative to Gitksan persons. I just don't see 
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your proposition any other way. 

2 MR. JACKSON: Well, my lord, that's something we will be coming 
3 back to you on. In response to the question of why 
4 can't the Gitksan do what other communities do in 
5 terms of the communities you've identified, one of the 
6 problems, and it's a problem which is identified by 
7 Glen Williams in material which I've set out at page 
8 86 through to 87, is that the efforts of the Gitksan 
9 and Wet'suwet'en to set up their own school systems or 

10 to introduce elements of their own distinctive values 
11 into the school system has in the past been hampered 
12 and is hampered today by the lack of an economic base. 
13 I mean, those other communities, my lord, have by 
14 virtue of being part of the mainstream society 
15 resources available to them. Mr. Williams and other 
16 witnesses have related the fact that if the 
17 declarations which the plaintiffs seek in relation to 
18 the resources of the territory are the subject of your 
19 lordship's judgment, that will provide part of an 
20 economic base upon which Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en can 
21 build up their own distinctive institutions so that 
22 they are economically and culturally self-sufficient. 
23 The point of --
24 THE COURT: But surely you're not asking me to make a 
25 declaration that would give your clients an economic 
26 base and then tell them how to --
2 7 MR. JACKSON: No, my lord. 
28 THE COURT: — how to spend it? 
29 MR. JACKSON: No. What I'm trying to relate is that there is a 
30 relationship between the dispossession of the Gitksan 
31 and Wet'suwet'en over the years and the undermining of 
32 their resource base through alienations by the 
33 provincial defendant. 
34 THE COURT: I have no trouble with that because you're back to 
35 land, and that I can deal with. 
36 MR. JACKSON: But in this part of the argument, my lord, we are 
37 trying to show how, in fact, the de facto inability to 
38 make decisions as to the beneficial use of resources 
39 does have, in fact, direct relationships to certain 
40 social and economic problems of the plaintiffs, which 
41 they have tried to address through their own 
42 institutions, through seeking to accommodate their own 
43 cultural values, their own institutional sources of 
44 authority with those of the province. 
45 The material, my lord, on the way in which the 
46 education of young Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en has taken 
47 place within a framework of attempted accommodation is 
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lordship, and I intend at this point to 

2 pass to something else. 
3 THE COURT: All right. Thank you. I hope that I have not 
4 indicated that or said anything that indicates that I 
5 don't understand what you're submitting. It's just 
6 that I have an enormous difficulty in grappling with 
7 it in justiciable terms. 
8 MR. JACKSON: Yes, my lord. I think, my lord, if I could just 
9 refer you to the bottom of page 88, where Mr. Williams 

10 sort of makes this point. Having talked about the 
11 efforts of the Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en to build up 
12 their own educational resources through training and 
13 forestry management, fishery management, as well as 
14 complimenting the work of Chief Hanamuxw in providing 
15 native teachers with the distinctive kind of training 
16 which is necessary to deal with the problems native 
17 children face when confronting the educational system, 
18 Mr. Williams said: 
19 
20 "If we are given -- if we had our own land base 
21 back...the chiefs and their house would be 
22 responsible for providing housing to their own 
23 people in their house and dealing with other 
24 problems and ensuring that their house members 
25 are dealt with and not to be suffering from 
26 social and housing problems that we have today. 
27 Their resources for them would be there. They 
28 would have a good economic return from their 
29 territories, which is rightfully theirs." 
30 
31 That's the solution that the chiefs discuss 
32 extensively. So he is relating the perceived and real 
33 economic and social problems of the plaintiffs to the 
34 efforts of the chiefs to build up the technology, as 
35 it were, of education to make it responsive to the 
36 distinctive values of native people in the same way as 
37 in coming to this court and seeking a recognition of 
38 the inherent jurisdiction of the chiefs, in seeking a 
39 recognition of their inherent rights to ownership of 
40 the territory. The combination of that recognition 
41 will, as it were, renew the strength and integrity of 
42 the Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en houses. 
43 My lord, at page 89 and the following pages the 
44 argument tries to come to grips with some of the 
45 evidence your lordship has heard regarding the efforts 
46 of the plaintiffs in relation to land stewardship and 
47 logging, and you'll recall evidence that there has 
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of various logging activities 

2 on Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en lands both in terms of 
3 reserves and in relation to lands outside of reserves. 
4 And if your lordship would look at page 91, I refer to 
5 the evidence of Mr. Mathews, who testified as to the 
6 establishment of the sawmill now owned by Westar on 
7 the Kitwanga Reserve in 1970, and there are two things 
8 which I will draw your lordship's attention to: that 
9 that, even though it was established on a reserve, was 

10 one done with the consultation of the hereditary 
11 chiefs; and secondly, that it was done to deal with 
12 the chronic problems of unemployment with which many 
13 of the reserves were and continue to be afflicted. 
14 At page 94, my lord, I also -- and the intervening 
15 pages try to come to grips with and explain the 
16 apparent conflict between Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en 
17 working for a logging company which logs other houses' 
18 territories and using the resources in the context of 
19 the feast. A similar conflict or apparent conflict 
20 between the existing system of authority and ownership 
21 and the provincial system is identified at page 94 in 
22 relation to the Moricetown logging and sawmill 
23 enterprise, and your lordship will recall that that 
24 logging operation started out using reserve lands. 
25 When those lands proved inadequate to support the 
26 continuing economic viability of the logging 
27 operation, the band and the hereditary chiefs were 
28 faced with the very great problem of how to continue 
29 the business and maintain their own authority, 
30 maintain their own ownership but given the fact that 
31 no logging would be permitted by the province without 
32 the obtaining of the requisite provincial permits, and 
33 the evidence traces how, in fact, the band council, in 
34 fact, did obtain a provincial timber sale licence. 
35 And these pages of the evidence document how in coming 
36 to that decision the band did not simply, as it were, 
37 usurp the authority of the hereditary chiefs. This is 
38 not an example of the traditional system having passed 
39 away in the face of an overwhelming provincial 
40 authority but rather is an example of how the band 
41 council consulted with the hereditary chiefs; how, in 
42 fact, the expanded logging operation, to the extent it 
43 took place on Wah Tah K'eght, that's W-a-h, new word, 
44 T-a-h K-'-e-g-h-t, on Wah Tah K'eght's territory, that 
45 was done with consultation and with the express 
46 consent and approval of Chief Wah Tah K'eght. 
47 And at page 96 I have set out the evidence of 
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Henry Alfred, over on page 97, 

2 where, in fact, he says that he did give consent, but 
3 he did so in the very constrained circumstances facing 
4 his people. He identifies the high unemployment, and 
5 he identifies the fact that if he did not give 
6 consent, the timber licence would have been granted to 
7 someone else, and, therefore, the wealth and resources 
8 of the Wet'suwet'en would have been drained away by 
9 non-Wet'suwet'en, and, therefore, his decision to 

10 allow the band council to apply for the licence to log 
11 his territory was done, as it were, as a compromise. 
12 It was consistent with a process of consultation and 
13 seeking his authority, but in many ways the method of 
14 logging, to the extent it involved clear-cut logging, 
15 was not consistent with the ways in which the 
16 Wet'suwet'en would have preferred and indeed the ways 
17 in which they would log if their rights to ownership 
18 of the territory were recognized by this court. And 
19 I've set that out at page 97 and 98. 
20 My lord, at page 100 -- at page 100, my lord --
21 THE COURT: How is the sawmill doing? 
22 MR. JACKSON: Mr. Grant, I think, is a better authority on the 
2 3 sawmill. 
24 MR. GRANT: I'm sorry, what is it? 
25 THE COURT: At Moricetown. 
26 MR. GRANT: What is it doing? 
27 THE COURT: How is it doing? 
28 MR. GRANT: It was burned, part of it was burned in a fire, but 
29 it's operating, one part of it. It is functioning 
3 0 now. 
31 THE COURT: Sawmills seem to burn up with incredible regularity 
32 in this province. 
33 MR. GRANT: There's three mills that have burned in Hazelton in 
34 the last year. 
35 THE COURT: My dad had three mills burn out from under him in 
36 three years. Fortunately, he didn't own any of them. 
37 MR. JACKSON: Yes. Courtrooms have a better history of — 
38 THE COURT: Yes, they do. Much more stable. 
39 MR. JACKSON: -- maintenance in the face of adversity. 
4 0 THE COURT: Yes. 
41 MR. JACKSON: The material at page 100, my lord, deals with a 
42 problem which your lordship has raised on various 
43 occasions, and it relates to the way in which the 
44 system of hereditary chiefs interacts with the band 
45 councils. And my friends in their arguments have 
46 submitted that in terms of an organized society, to 
47 the extent that the tests of aboriginal title require 
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organized society, the character-

2 ization which the plaintiffs have placed upon their 
3 organized society, insofar as it builds upon the 
4 houses as the basic unit, is a mischaracterization and 
5 that to the extent that there is a unit of organized 
6 society, there's the bands, and to the extent there is 
7 a governing body, it is the band councils as 
8 established under the Indian Act. And this material, 
9 my lord, seeks to bring together various parts of the 

10 evidence in which witnesses have sought to explain the 
11 way in which their existing system of authority, the 
12 hereditary chiefs and the feast system, how that works 
13 in relationship to the band councils, and what this 
14 evidence shows, my lord, we say, is that the band 
15 councils and the hereditary chiefs have worked in 
16 balance, they have sought -- band councils have seen 
17 their role as being limited to particular kinds of 
18 responsibilities, particularly responsibilities to do 
19 with life on the reserve and to do with community 
20 services and amenities on the reserve, and that the 
21 hereditary chiefs' responsibility has not been 
22 replaced and supplanted by band councils, and that 
23 those responsibilities relate primarily to the 
24 territories outside of the reserves and matters 
25 dealing with jurisdictional responsibility outside of 
26 the reserves, but that even in relation to the 
27 reserves there is co-ordination, and the band councils 
28 look upon themselves as acting under the advice of and 
29 as subordinate agencies to the hereditary chiefs. 
30 And I've related there the evidence of James 
31 Morrison, Vernon Smith, Ms. Wilson Kenni, and Alfred 
32 Joseph, all of whom with experience both as band 
33 councillors, in some cases chief councillors, and as 
34 hereditary chiefs, are able to articulate the nature 
35 of the relationship between their responsibilities on 
36 the one hand as a band councillor, on the other hand 
37 as an hereditary chief. And we say, my lord, that 
38 there is no conflict between those, that the band 
39 council system, even though it is not a system of the 
40 plaintiffs' own making, is one which they have sought 
41 to incorporate into and they have sought to make work 
42 consistent with their existing systems of authority. 
43 In the same way, my lord, we say that the 
44 development of institutions such as the Gitksan and 
45 Wet'suwet'en Tribal Council and the current Gitksan-
46 Wet'suwet'en office of hereditary chiefs are not new 
47 developments which replace the central and fundamental 
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of hereditary chiefs. 

2 At page 105 and the following pages, and in 
3 particular in terms of the evidence of Mr. Neil 
4 Sterritt, which is set out at page 108, we say that 
5 the Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en hereditary -- the Gitksan 
6 and Wet'suwet'en Tribal Council operates as an 
7 emanation or an extension of the hereditary chiefs and 
8 that in the context of a government bureaucracy and 
9 administration, such as the federal government, for 

10 example, in terms of negotiating with the provincial 
11 government, it has become necessary and useful for the 
12 hereditary chiefs, given their number, to have an 
13 agency, to have an arm of their jurisdictional system 
14 which is able in a speedy and efficacious way to 
15 interface and interact with governments which require 
16 that kind of interaction. 
17 And at page 108, my lord, I've set out the various 
18 issues which Mr. Sterritt gave evidence about and how 
19 he saw his role not as having a mandate to speak 
20 instead of, but as a mandate to speak on behalf of and 
21 subject to the direction of the hereditary chiefs. 
22 My lord, at page 109 there is a section dealing 
23 with the fishing by-laws, and the purpose of this 
24 material is not, of course, to demonstrate some 
25 preclusive or overriding jurisdiction in the 
26 plaintiffs vis-a-vis the federal government. As your 
27 lordship has made very clear, that is not an issue 
28 raised on these pleadings and not an issue before your 
29 court. 
30 The purpose of providing your lordship with a 
31 summary of this evidence -- and I should say, my lord, 
32 that this evidence is also summarized in a variety of 
33 judicial sources. In the Wale case, that's W-a-l-e, 
34 the judgment of Mr. Justice Seaton reviews some of 
35 this material. And Mr. Justice Joyal in a case which 
36 is for the moment -- in the Robinson case, my lord, 
37 also has reviewed some of the history of these 
38 by-laws. So this material, while it has been spoken 
39 to by witnesses, in particular, Mr. Glen Williams, is 
40 evidence which your lordship could have regard to 
41 outside of the context of this trial. 
42 The purpose of this material, my lord, is to show 
43 how in the development of a set of by-laws under the 
44 Indian Act the Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en system of 
45 authority has sought to use the by-laws not simply as 
46 a recognition that the bands and the band councillors 
47 have the exclusive authority in this area, but rather 
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by-laws those by-laws were 

2 worked on by the band councils in direct consultation 
3 with the hereditary chiefs, and how the by-laws were 
4 used because they were a recognized source of 
5 authority, recognized, that is, by the federal 
6 government, recognized by the provincial government by 
7 virtue of the federal paramountcy doctrine, Section 
8 91(24) of the British North America Act, and how the 
9 band councils and the hereditary chiefs sought to use 

10 the existing system available to them without 
11 resorting to litigation, such as what has happened in 
12 this case, and having worked through a set of by-laws 
13 using existing mechanisms open to them, using their 
14 best efforts, negotiating in good faith, complying in 
15 every way with what they understood to be the demands 
16 and requirements of other federal agencies. Having 
17 got to that point, their ability to implement those 
18 by-laws within the context of the recognized system 
19 was, in fact, thwarted by the application of the 
20 provincial defendant. 
21 MR. GOLDIE: That was a relator action, my lord. My friend 
22 knows the difference. 
23 MR. JACKSON: Well, my lord — 
24 THE COURT: Are you talking about Wale? 
25 MR. JACKSON: Yes, my lord. I don't think we have to get into 
26 the niceties of whether or not a relator action in 
27 lending the imprimatur of the provincial defendant is 
28 the act of the provincial defendant or otherwise. 
29 That's not the point, my lord. My principal point is 
30 that this was an effort by the plaintiffs to use 
31 existing systems of authority, and it failed. 
32 THE COURT: Well, Wale is under appeal to the Supreme Court of 
33 Canada, is it not? It's been argued. 
34 MR. JACKSON: Yes, my lord. 
35 MR. GRANT: No. 
36 THE COURT: Hasn't been argued. 
37 MR. GOLDIE: It hasn't been argued. Leave was granted long ago, 
38 but it hasn't been set down, my lord. 
39 THE COURT: All right. Thank you. 
40 MR. JACKSON: And, my lord, the materials at page 109 to 116 
41 track that history. 
42 THE COURT: I'm sorry, where? 
43 MR. JACKSON: Page — up to 116 from page 112. 
4 4 THE COURT: 109 to 116. 
4 5 MR. JACKSON: 109 to 116. 
4 6 THE COURT: Thank you. 
47 MR. JACKSON: My lord, the last part of the material which I 
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Submission by Mr. Jackson 1 would read to your 
lordship deals with the 

2 relationship of the present action to the plaintiffs' 
3 system of authority. And at page 116 we say we end 
4 this section of argument in a sense where we began, 
5 with the question of the land and the competing 
6 systems of authority pertaining to that land. It is 
7 our submission that the present court action attests 
8 to the consistency and vitality of the Gitksan and 
9 Wet'suwet'en systems of authority in the face of a 

10 governmental system of authority which has very 
11 different goals and interests compared to those of the 
12 plaintiffs. 
13 Throughout the last century the Gitksan and 
14 Wet'suwet'en have pursued a policy of asserting their 
15 system of authority whenever possible, and 
16 accommodating the alien system where necessary. The 
17 present court action of the plaintiffs attests to the 
18 will and commitment of the two peoples to stand firmly 
19 for their aboriginal rights and duties vis-a-vis one 
20 another, vis-a-vis other social groupings in the 
21 greater society, and vis-a-vis the land itself. 
22 This land title action is itself evidence of the 
23 assertion of the hereditary system of authority in 
24 face of other competing systems. And I've recited 
25 there, my lord, what the late Ken Muldoe, Delgamuukw, 
26 told this court. 
27 
28 "An aboriginal rights package can be put on the 
29 shelf to be forgotten or to be endlessly 
30 debated at Constitutional conferences...We are 
31 here to discuss territory and authority. When 
32 this case ends and the package has been 
33 unwrapped, it will have to be our ownership and 
34 our jurisdiction under our law that is on the 
35 table." 
36 
37 Ken Muldoe spoke to the court with the authority 
38 of Delgamuukw, House chief of the Lax Se'el Clan of 
39 Kispiox. He spoke with the authority that comes from 
40 the accumulated experience of all those who have held 
41 the name and the crests of Delgamuukw for generations 
42 before him. The message given to the court by 
43 Delgamuukw on behalf of the Gitksan, and Gisdaywa on 
44 behalf of the Wet'suwet'en, was clear: "We are here 
45 to discuss territory and authority." 
46 It is our submission that throughout the past 
47 century the accumulated actions of the House chiefs, 
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1 their members, and their various political 
2 organizations have both demonstrated the vitality, 
3 persistence, and flexibility of the hereditary system 
4 of authority and the continuing efforts of the 
5 plaintiffs to seek an accommodation with the reality 
6 of government refusal either to accommodate or 
7 recognize the Gitksan and Wet'suwet'en ownership of 
8 land and the full social, legal, political, economic, 
9 and spiritual authority that that ownership denotes. 

10 My lord, that was the end of this part of the 
11 submission. Mr. Rush is going to deal with the next 
12 part of the argument, and I wonder if we could stand 
13 down perhaps for just three or four minutes. 
14 THE COURT: Well, I've made appointments to do things at ten 
15 o'clock. 
16 MR. JACKSON: Well, my lord — 
17 THE COURT: I really object to sitting late at night and then 
18 wasting time during the day. 
19 MR. JACKSON: Mr. Rush is here. 
20 THE COURT: Well, let's get going. I'd rather not adjourn. 
21 MR. JACKSON: That's fine, my lord. 
22 MR. RUSH: My lord, I'm in a position to proceed now. 
2 3 THE COURT: Thank you. 
24 MR. RUSH: And the next section of the plaintiffs' argument will 
25 deal with the colonial period in the Colony of 
26 Vancouver Island, of the mainland and the united 
27 colonies prior to 1871. And I will pass up to your 
28 lordship now Volume number 7 of the plaintiffs' 
29 argument containing the first portion of that 
30 argument, and I have an additional copy for the 
31 recorder. 
32 THE COURT: Thank you. I'm not entirely sure what this one is. 
33 MR. RUSH: It's a second copy for the reporter. 
34 THE COURT: Oh, for the reporter. Are we going to finish this 
35 today? 
36 MR. RUSH: I hope to finish this by noon. 
37 THE COURT: Oh. I better not say a word. 
38 MR. RUSH: My lord, this portion of the argument will review the 
39 historical documents and evidence pertaining thereto 
40 leading up to the establishment of the Colony of 
41 Vancouver's Island through the colonial period and to 
42 the point of union in 1871, following which Ms. 
43 Mandell will make submissions to you regarding the 
44 appropriate tests to be applied when viewing the 
45 historical period and the proclamations and ordinances 
46 of the historical period as to whether or not they 
47 could be considered as affecting any form of 
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Submission by Mr. Rush 1 extinguishment direct or 
implied. And it is our hope 

2 that with the day's end we will have completed the 
3 argument in those two parts. 
4 Now, beginning, my lord, with the question of the 
5 law applicable to aboriginal title in British Columbia 
6 and, in particular, to the law applicable as at the 
7 eve of the establishment of Vancouver's Island, our 
8 submission is that when the British claims to 
9 sovereignty over what is now British Columbia were 

10 settled by the Treaty of Washington in 1846 the 
11 fundamental principles of the common law in respect of 
12 aboriginal peoples were the principles affirmed in the 
13 Marshall decisions, which have their fullest 
14 expression in the case of Worcester v. Georgia, in the 
15 Treaty of Waitangi, and in the decision of the New 
16 Zealand Supreme Court in R. v. Symonds. 
17 Now, in Symonds the New Zealand Supreme Court 
18 enunciated the principles of universal application 
19 regarding the territorial rights of the Crown and the 
20 aboriginal natives and in so doing affirmed the 
21 following: 
22 
23 "Whatever may be the opinion of jurists as to 
24 the strength or weakness of Native title, 
25 whatever may have been the past vague notions 
26 of the Natives of this country, whatever may be 
27 their present clearer and still growing 
28 conception of their dominion over land, it 
29 cannot be too solemnly asserted that it is 
30 entitled to be respected, that it cannot be 
31 extinguished (at least in times of peace) other 
32 wise than by the free consent of the Native 
33 occupiers. But for their protection, and for 
34 the sake of humanity the Government is bound to 
35 maintain, and the courts to assert, the Queen's 
36 exclusive right to extinguish it." 
37 
38 This case was decided in 1847, two years before 
39 the creation of the Colony of Vancouver's Island, by a 
40 colonial court applying the common law applicable 
41 throughout the British dominions. I just pause there, 
42 my lord, to tell you that we have asserted at greatest 
43 length in Mr. Jackson's argument our position 
44 regarding the Symonds case, and we've discussed it 
45 more fully, and that can be found in Volume 3 at page 
46 116, and that's tab 10. 
47 Now, my lord, what we say on 2 is that the 
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above recognize the pre-

2 existing rights of aboriginal peoples as to the 
3 ownership of their territories and the right to 
4 exercise full authority over their territories, 
5 limited only by a restriction on alienation of their 
6 territories to persons other than to the Crown or 
7 persons authorized by the Crown. These principles 
8 also recognize an underlying title in the Crown which 
9 was limited by the obligation to acquire such lands as 

10 the aboriginal peoples were willing to sell. Most 
11 important, underpinning the legal relationship between 
12 aboriginal rights and Crown rights was the principle 
13 of aboriginal people's consent and Crown protection. 
14 We say these principles were embodied in the 
15 common law, and these principles constitute the legal 
16 framework which was applicable to the Colony of 
17 Vancouver's Island when established in 1849 and the 
18 Colony of British Columbia when established in 1858. 
19 We say these principles applied to what is now 
20 British Columbia, and that it is evident from the 
21 confidential memo given to the Foreign Office in March 
22 of 1849. And I'll just deal with this briefly at this 
23 juncture. 
24 
25 "It must however be added that in parting with 
26 the land of the island Her Majesty parts only 
27 with her own right therein, and that whatever 
28 measures she was bound to take in order to 
29 extinguish the aboriginal title are equally 
30 obligatory on the company." 
31 
32 Now, my lord, our position is that this is the 
33 language of law. Here the principles guiding the 
34 Company were to be in accordance with the common law 
35 principles not only to part only with what title it, 
36 that is to say the Crown, had by law, but also to 
37 recognize the aboriginal title and to extinguish it by 
38 whatever measures she was bound to take, and it 
39 follows in accordance with the law. And these are 
40 legal obligations consistent with Imperial 
41 understanding of the law as it had developed in the 
42 jurisprudence and the long history of Crown practice 
43 and policy in treating with the Indian peoples of 
44 North America. 
45 Now, we say, my lord, that the same principles 
46 applied to the Crown and to the Indians were confirmed 
47 in the Royal Proclamation of 1763. And I repeat here 
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argument we previously made 

2 about the prospective application of Part IV of the 
3 proclamation through the jurisdiction acts to the 
4 territory which became known as Indian territory and 
5 was New Caledonia, the territory of New Caledonia, 
6 which eventually became British Columbia and the 
7 Colony of British Columbia. 
8 Over to 4, my lord. The Royal Proclamation and 
9 the guarantees which it afforded to Indian peoples was 

10 not an ordinary statute. The principles which it 
11 affirmed codified fundamental rights for Indians, and 
12 these rights were of a higher order than those created 
13 by simple enactment and took on a constitutional 
14 status. It was an Imperial law which operated as a 
15 restriction on the legislative competence of colonial 
16 legislatures. And colonial enactment which could be 
17 read -- excuse me. Any colonial enactment which could 
18 be read as being inconsistent with the Indian land 
19 provisions of the proclamation had to be read to avoid 
20 repugnancy with the Imperial law. The Royal 
21 Proclamation of 1763 applied in this way to what is 
22 known as British Columbia as at the time of the 
23 establishment of the colonies of Vancouver's Island 
24 and British Columbia. 
25 Now, my lord, we make another argument in the 
26 further alternative, and that is if the common law and 
27 the Royal Proclamation provisions regarding Indian 
28 land rights and protection did not apply to and bind 
29 the colony insofar as their policy and local laws 
30 reflected, then we say there was a constitutional 
31 convention operative in the colonies as of 1849 which 
32 acted as a guarantee of Indian land rights and as a 
33 limitation on the colonial statute-making power. 
34 Constitutional convention stems from historical 
35 constitutional usage and practice. And we take 
36 support from Lord Denning's decision in R. v. 
37 Secretary of State, where he applied the doctrine of 
38 constitutional convention to find that according to 
39 usage and practice the Crown in Canada became separate 
40 and divisible according to the particular territory in 
41 which it was sovereign. We'll submit further to you 
42 on that point when Ms. Mandell addresses you. 
43 By 1849 we say a constitutional convention in 
44 respect to Indian land rights and how they were to be 
45 dealt with in the colonies of Britain had developed 
46 through long usage and practice, and the history of 
47 this has been set out in the part of our argument 
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Submission by Mr. Rush 1 dealing with the 
fundamental principles of aboriginal 

2 law. 
3 Now, my lord, moving to the next paragraph, 
4 whether by the common law, the Royal Proclamation of 
5 1763 or constitutional convention, the fundamental 
6 principles of aboriginal rights and title applied to 
7 the colonies of British Columbia, and whatever the 
8 policy that was applied from time to time in the 
9 colonies of British Columbia throughout the colonial 

10 era, and indeed beyond, it could not be inconsistent 
11 with these legal principles. 
12 Now, my lord, I want to just pause here to raise 
13 with your lordship the argument that is made by the 
14 province here. And we say that their argument on the 
15 colonial period commences from a flawed, fundamentally 
16 flawed proposition, and we say one that's been 
17 rejected by the courts. And I've set out where in 
18 their argument that appears, and I'm just going to 
19 cite in part what they say. At the bottom of 5: 
20 
21 "It is axiomatic that the source of a right 
22 which is enforceable against the Crown must be 
23 found in an acknowledgment of the existence of 
24 such a right, expressly, or from necessary 
25 implication, express acknowledgment may be 
26 found in an exercise of the Royal Prerogative 
27 or in an Act of Parliament. Necessary 
28 implication may arise from a course of conduct 
29 by the Executive on behalf of the Crown." 
30 
31 Now, we say, my lord, this position was advanced 
32 and adopted by the British Columbia Court of Appeal in 
33 Calder, and it was rejected in the Supreme Court of 
34 Canada by Mr. Justice Hall in Calder. And what he 
35 said is this, after an extensive review of the 
36 authorities: 
37 
38 "The aboriginal Indian title does not depend on 
39 Treaty Executive Order or Legislative 
4 0 enactment." 
41 
42 And later, after reviewing Mr. Justice Blackburn in 
43 Milirrpum, Mr. Justice Hall concluded: 
44 
45 "It will be seen that he..." 
46 
47 THE COURT: That's Blackburn, is it? 
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Submission by Mr. Rush 1 MR. RUSH: Yes. 
2 THE COURT: Yes. 
3 MR. RUSH: 
4 
5 "...fell into the same errors as did Mr. Justice 
6 Gould, J, and the Court of Appeal. The essence 
7 of his concurrence with the Court of Appeal 
8 judgment lies in his acceptance of the 
9 proposition that after conquest or discovery 

10 the native peoples have no rights at all except 
11 those subsequently granted or recognized by the 
12 conqueror or discoverer. That proposition is 
13 wholly wrong as the mass of authorities 
14 previously cited, including Johnson v. M'Intosh 
15 and Campbell v. Hall, establishes." 
16 
17 And, my lord, Mr. Jackson exhaustively reviewed 
18 the decisions by Chief Justice Marshall in those 
19 cases. 
20 Now, the United States Supreme Court in Lipan 
21 Appache came to the same conclusion as Mr. Justice 
22 Hall. I want to cite briefly from this decision of 
23 the United States Supreme Court. 
24 
25 "The Claims Commission has found, however, that 
26 even if the claimants had once possessed 
27 aboriginal title to the lands, that right of 
28 occupancy was lost after 1836 when Texas became 
29 an independent country. The Commission 
30 appeared to believe that the survival of 
31 aboriginal title depends upon affirmative 
32 recognition by the sovereign and that the 
33 Republic 'did not accord the Indian[s] the 
34 right of occupancy...'. 
35 
36 Without such a right to lands in Texas, at the 
37 time of annexation, the tribes failed to prove 
38 a necessary element of their cause of action 
39 and were barred from recovery. 
40 
41 To the extent that the Commission and the 
42 appellee believe that affirmative governmental 
43 recognition or approval is a prerequisite to 
44 the existence of aboriginal title, we think 
45 they err. Indian title based on aboriginal 
46 possession does not depend upon sovereign 
47 recognition or affirmative acceptance for its 
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2 
3 My lord, a similar position was taken by Chief 
4 Justice Dickson in Guerin where he made it very clear 
5 that Indian title is an independent legal right. 
6 
7 "Their interest," he said, "in their lands is a 
8 pre- existing legal right not created by Royal 
9 Proclamation by Section 18(1) of the Indian 

10 Act, or by any other Executive Order or 
11 Legislative Provision." 
12 
13 And his lordship continued -- and these are passages, 
14 my lord, that Mr. Jackson has referred you to already, 
15 but I think they bear repetition. 
16 
17 "It does not matter, in my opinion, that the 
18 present case is concerned with the interest of 
19 an Indian Band in reserve rather than with 
20 unrecognized aboriginal title in traditional 
21 tribal lands. The Indian interest in the land 
22 is the same in both cases." 
23 
24 And what we say is there he acknowledges the pre-
25 existing character of the aboriginal right in the 
26 land. 
27 And we say at the top of 8, my lord, that 
28 aboriginal title is a pre-existing legal right. It 
29 does not depend on the express or implied 
30 acknowledgment by the Crown for its existence. It 
31 does not depend on the exercise of the Royal 
32 Prerogative, an act of parliament or a course of 
33 conduct. Once established as a matter of fact, as the 
34 plaintiffs have done in this case, it endures until 
35 extinguished with the consent, or in the alternative, 
36 by clear and express statutory language. 
37 THE COURT: I think we'll take the first adjournment now, Mr. 
38 Rush. 
39 MR. RUSH: Thank you, my lord. 
40 THE REGISTRAR: Order in court. Court stands adjourned for a 
41 short recess. 
42 
43 (PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 10:00 A.M.) 
44 
45 
46 
47 
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2 THE COURT: Mr. Rush. 
3 MR. RUSH: My lord, on page eight I now turn to the history of 
4 the colonial period and I ask you first to look to 
5 Part I entitled Recognition of Aboriginal Title in 
6 British Columbia by Britain and Colonial Governments 
7 Prior to 1871. And we say Great Britain's obligation 
8 of recognizing aboriginal title and of purchasing 
9 lands from Indians in North America was recognized and 

10 affirmed in the Royal Proclamation. The Proclamation 
11 provided that Purchases of lands from Indians were to 
12 be made with the consent of the Indian ands were to be 
13 made only in the name of the Crown. The fundamental 
14 principles regarding Indian land rights were also 
15 recognized and expressed in the common-law. The 
16 Crown's obligations at law were extended to lands 
17 which are now in British Columbia. And there is 
18 now -- there is no evidence that the Crown's 
19 obligations have been repudiated by the British Crown. 
20 Now, I move to the second paragraph, my lord, on 
21 nine. The following are examples on the basis of our 
22 position that the law proclaimed in 1763, expressed in 
23 the common law and carried out as Imperial policy 
24 continued in force through the next century and was 
25 directed specifically to Indian lands in what is now 
26 British Columbia. 
27 And I direct you first, my lord, to the secret 
28 instructions to Captain Cook of 6 July 1776, and the 
29 first paragraph on page -- or under this heading on 
30 page nine gives some of the detail of the Captain 
31 Cook's voyage. But I take you now to ten and the 
32 passage of those secret instructions beginning about 
33 halfway down, and I draw your lordship's attention to 
34 this: 
35 
36 "And if in your farther progress to the 
37 northward, as hereafter directed, you find any 
38 subjects of any of European prince or state 
39 upon any part of the coast you may think proper 
40 to visit, you are not to disturb them or give 
41 them any just cause of offence, but on the 
42 contrary to treat them with civility and 
43 friendship." 
44 
45 Cook was further directed to take possession in the 
46 name of the King, subject to the consent of the 
47 natives, of any lands not previously discovered or 


